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  Sacramento to Buenos Aires
We’re in Buenos Aires.  We had one hell of a time getting here.  In October, two months before our trip, Delta canceled our flight.  As of December 1, they were canceling their partnership with LAPA Argentinas, which canceled the portion of our flight from Sacramento to Buenos Aires.  I went back and forth with them trying to arrange an alternative schedule that would get us to Buenos Aires in time to catch our flight to Ushuaia.  Finally I did, but it involved numerous layovers, including one in São Paolo with a flight on Varig Airlines.  In the end, we had our tickets refunded, and I had April book us a flight with United.  (April was our contact with Expeditiontrips.com, with whom we booked this trip.)

Fast-forward to December 15.  We got to the airport in plenty of time for our 11:00am flight, boarded our plane, and taxied out to the runway.  We sat there for the few minutes they always do while making their last-minute checks, but then sat some more.  And some more.  Some announcements were made, some more were made, and finally they announced that there was a problem with the retracting wing flaps.  They taxied the plane back to the gate to see whether they could get it repaired right away, or whether it would take more time.  Finally they announced that they were canceling the flight and rebooking everyone.  The captain stood in front of the passengers at the gate, and announced the situation: the repair was straightforward, but they needed a particular part that they probably couldn’t get hold of until the next day.  It wasn’t easy news to stomach, but I thought it laudable and conscientious that he would do that.

Sarah and I spent an additional four hours at the airport trying to straighten things out.  There were no more flights to Chicago or Miami that day that we could get on.  After an hour on the phone with someone in United International reservations, we had an itinerary that would get us to Ushuaia on time, and she sent us to the front counter to have our tickets reissued.

We got to the front desk, and after a very long wait in line (the other passengers from our flight were also getting their flights rebooked, and most of them got to the front desk before us), we reached the front and started working with Catherine.  She told us that part of the segment couldn’t be rebooked with another airline (which the International rep had done) because it was a bulk-rate ticket.  She eventually got that hammered out, after a long phone conversation of her own, then looked into our domestic flight in Argentina.

Aerolineas was closed, so nothing could be confirmed with them.  Also it seemed that they had canceled our return flight to Buenos Aires.  So Catherine made alternative arrangements with LAPA Argentinas and said that all we needed to do was go to the Aerolineas counter in Buenos Aires to have our new LAPA tickets reissued on Aerolineas stock.

We finally left the airport after 4:00pm, and decided to go to Hoppy Brewing Company for dinner, to help wind down a bit.  When we got back, I called Hotel Maipú to move our reservation back a day.  Since it was Sunday, we couldn’t call April to reschedule our ride in Buenos Aires.  That would have to wait till the next day.

That night was awfully stormy—lots of wind and rain.  However, the wind had died down considerably by the time our flight departed at 6:30am, and we boarded and lifted off without complication.  There was an awful lot of turbulence, though, and Sarah spent much of the time holding onto me, terrified.  It was certainly the bumpiest flight either of us had been on.

It turned out that this flight, like our cancelled one the day before, went to Miami by way of Chicago.  We also learned en route that we would be making a plane change in Chicago—which we hadn’t heard before.  I asked the stewardess twice where we needed to go once we arrived in Chicago, but was told only that that info would be announced before we disembarked.  The announcement, when it finally came, said only to proceed to “the designated gate”, without bothering to designate a gate.  Sarah looked it up and we found it.  While waiting for our next leg, we called April to see if she had rearranged our rides and made sure we were ok once we reached Buenos Aires.  We also called Thane to get up to date on the Ushuaia end.  

Thane is Sarah’s younger brother.  He had made us reservations at the hostel, and had made arrangements for a friend of his, Fernando Vargas, to pick us up at the Ushuaia airport.  Thane had sent us down with two gifts, each consisting of a bottle of wine and a set of canned nuts, for two of the people he had met in Ushuaia.  One was Moriaki Tamaki, who owned a grocery store right near the hostel (and so would be easy to find); the other was Fernando, and we could give him his gift when he picked us up.  However, since we now weren’t going to spend a night in the hostel before our cruise, Fernando would not be picking us up, and we would have to track him down later on our own.

We boarded our flight to Miami and arrived without incident.  Miami presented a bit of a culture shock, even before we left the States.  English was not universally spoken by the airport personnel, and we saw signs printed in Spanish first, with English second and smaller.  I’m all in favor of printing official signs in more than one language, but I’m sorry—English is our country’s lingua franca, and the signs in our airports should be printed primarily in English, with other languages after.  Also, we saw people smoking.  There were No Smoking signs everywhere, they made repeated announcements that smoking was prohibited, and there were no ash trays anywhere, but we saw a couple of people light up anyway.  WTF?

In Miami, we went to the Aerolineas counter to get the domestic tickets reissued (as Catherine at United had told us to), but were told that they couldn’t do that because “we don’t got no partnership with LAPA.”  They not only refused to reissue the tickets (which, in fairness, they may have been right not to do), but they also didn’t bother to call United to try to straighten things out.  They would be willing to book us on another Aerolineas flight to Ushuaia—but didn’t have any free seats on a flight that would get us there in time to catch our ship.  We explained, of course, that that wouldn’t do, and why. 

They told us only, and repeatedly, that they couldn’t help us.  Sarah finally stepped in with “You keep telling me what you can’t do for us; how about telling me what you can?”  Only then did they mention that they could get us onto the flight we needed, the only seats they had were in business class.  They wouldn’t upgrade us to business class unless we paid the difference, which we finally did.  We had called April during these negotiations, and she called back just as I was signing the credit card bill for the upgrade.  She said we could file a claim with our traveler’s insurance; she thought that sort of thing was covered.  (Also on the positive side, Aerolineas told us that they hadn’t canceled our flight back from Ushuaia, so our original ticket for the return trip was still valid.)  So, with our newly booked Aerolineas tickets in hand, we went to the American desk to check in for our flight to Buenos Aires.

When we got to American, we handed over our documents, commenting that we’d had complications at every step and how nice it will be to not have any this time.  Right about on cue, the man behind the counter said there actually was a complication: the flight was overbooked.  We shouldn’t worry; we were guaranteed a seat, but they would have to get volunteers to give up their seats before they could board us.

So then we went to the gate, and handed in the tickets we’d been given at the counter.  They took them without giving us a boarding pass, receipt, or anything else paper in return.  They told us, as had the man at the front desk, that we would be on the plane, but that they needed people to give up their seats first.

So, while we were waiting, we met a couple with their grandson who were also going to Antarctica—and not only were they going there, but they were on our ship!  Small world!  (This was Jim, Debbie, and Jarred Gordon.)  Debbie told us we needed to become aggressive or we wouldn’t get on the plane.  It turned out she was right.  We went back to the gate and spoke with the same person, who essentially told us we would be getting on the flight and not to bother her any more.  After a while, many people had been called up but not us, and it was looking more and more like we weren’t going to be called.

At this point, then, Sarah went into pushy mode and started pestering the people behind the desk.  It was much easier for her to get pushy and angry when they told her they couldn’t prioritize people, while at the same time she watched one of the reps speaking with a couple guys on the side, and pulling their tickets off the bottom of the stack.  It also helped that this was our last real chance to get to Buenos Aires in time to make the boat.  There was another flight leaving later that night, but it too was booked—and probably overbooked, at that.  So, out of desperation and a sense of indignation, she started repeating to them, something like a half dozen times, “No.  You don’t understand.  We have to get on this flight.  You have to get us on this flight.”  She also pointedly told them that we had spent $15,000 on a cruise that we were going to miss if we didn’t get on that flight (which was exaggerating a bit, but largely in that that amount included our air fare).

Finally, the woman she was dealing with pulled our tickets from the bottom of the pile and gave her our boarding passes.  By this time they had started boarding the plane, so we got in line and very happily got on board.  Not everyone did, and we felt kind of guilty that we had bumped some people who had been ahead of us—but this was our last chance to get to Argentina in time to catch our boat…so we at least felt justified, if not comfortable, about it.  We were seated a few rows apart, but some creative arrangements with a few kind fellow passengers found us sitting together for the longest leg of our journey.

In preparing for our flight to Buenos Aires, I had thought back to the times I’d flown long-distance in the past.  I never ever got much sleep on those flights, so I had done what I could to try to change that on this flight: I had purchased a very comfy eye mask, an inflatable neck pillow, and had gotten some sleeping pills from my doctor.  Apparently, a little while after taking one of these pills, I started slurring my words and acting a bit strangely.  I made a drink with the cheap bourbon I’d brought (from this point I don’t remember anything), then put on the eye mask and neck pillow.  I then started reaching blindly for my drink.  Sarah, trying to be helpful, guided my hand to my cup, which I then brought up sharply to my forehead.  Thinking it might be better not to add alcohol to an obviously already potent drug, Sarah finished my drink for me.  Considering that I couldn’t get it to my mouth anyway, that’s probably for the best.

After this, she tells me, I fell asleep.  Pretty soon I was leaning forward rather than back (on account of the neck pillow).  She raised my wrist and let go, and it dropped to the armrest like a rock.  She started to get worried, going so far as to check my wrist for a pulse.  Apparently I was like this for something like four hours, after which I came to, briefly.  I remember her telling me to put my head in her lap, which I did, and went immediately back to sleep.  I remember that happening twice that night, before I finally woke up a couple hours before we arrived.
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  Buenos Aires

We went through customs in Buenos Aires, got our luggage, exchanged $50 for Argentine pesos, and found our driver, who took us to Hotel Maipú.  We got settled, then decided to see if my relatives were in town.  I had an aunt and uncle who were coming to Buenos Aires at about the same time as us.  When we compared notes it looked like we would miss each other by a day—but once there, we realized that we were there a day later than we’d expected to be, and we might catch them after all.  It would be awfully nice to meet family there, and maybe to have them show us around a bit, since they know the city.

So we walked to the Hotel Gran San Carlos where I knew they were planning to stay, and asked if they had anyone there by the name of Baradat—but they didn’t, so we returned to our hotel.  (We decided that the Gran San Carlos was way too nice a hotel for us to stay in, for future reference.)  Along the way we stopped into a sort of combination liquor store/wine shop and bought a bottle of red wine (a gift from Thane), and then stopped at a convenience store and bought a few local beers to try: Quilmes (which our driver had recommended), Brahma (which I think is Brazilian), and Palermo.  All three turned out to be cheap light lager—Budweiser clones.

In Argentina, Sarah was struck by how different it was from her experience in Peru.  Argentineans look very European, more so even than Americans (all of them were white).  Except for our dress, speech, and probably mannerisms, we pretty much fit in there.  Peruvians, on the other hand, are short and dark—Sarah and her family had stuck out like a sore thumb.  It was also a far richer country than Peru.  I thought Buenos Aires looked like a cross between Europe and the Third World—the building style was right for Europe, but things were less well maintained.  It was interesting walking around some of the streets of Buenos Aires.  We thought the city was all right, but what we saw didn’t make us want to spend any real time there.  There was nothing really wrong with it, but it didn’t specifically appeal to us either.

There was one thing about Argentina that was remarkably good, though: the food.  If you ever visit this country, and you’re not vegetarian or Hindu, be sure to have a steak.  Argentinean beef has a deserved reputation for being of very high quality.  Argentine steaks are excellent—thick, tender, delicious, and inexpensive.  I noticed they’re also cooked to order—when I asked for medium, I got medium.  This was in contrast to my experience with Europe in the ’80s, where when you ordered a steak, it was always pink in the middle.

There was also something I found very amusing about the country.  Argentine maps of Argentina show more than just Argentina; they also show the country’s territorial claims.  So, their maps of the country also show the Falklands (as “Islas Malvinas”, of course), and the slice of Antarctica (largely the Peninsula) that they claim as their own.  They showed on every map of Argentina I saw down there.
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        Buenos Aires to Ushuaia

We got up at 3:30am so our driver could pick us up at 4:15 and get us to the airport in time for our 5:25 flight.  We boarded the plane and flew to Ushuaia without incident.  Since we had plenty of time before embarkation, we planned to deliver the gifts to Fernando and Moriaki that day.  (We arrived in town at around 10:00am, and our boat didn’t leave till 4:00pm.)  We didn’t know for sure how to find Fernando, but since Moriaki was right near the Amanecer de la Bahía, it made sense to start there—so we took a taxi there from the airport.

Next door to the hostel (and not across the street, as Thane had told us), we found Moriaki’s grocery store.  He was inside, but at first didn’t know who we were talking about when I told him Thane’s name.  Finally we jogged his memory by mentioning the bicycle trip and that he and his mother had gone to Antarctica.  We gave him the gifts from Thane, and he invited us in back for tea.  We chatted for a while, in his broken English and my broken Spanish, drinking sen-cha.  Finally we left.

By this time it was drizzling, and we’d become discouraged by the experience with Moriaki not at first remembering Thane’s name: would Fernando remember him at all, and would we end up standing there like fools again, trying to jog his memory too?  Plus, the street Fernando lived on didn’t show on my maps of Ushuaia.  So in the end, even though we had plenty of time to run our errands, we were too tired, uncomfortable, and disoriented to try to find Fernando—and we chose to save that errand for after the cruise.

Sarah wanted to take a cab down to the harbor, but I wanted to just walk down the hill, since we had plenty of time and I figured we could just roll our luggage down the hill.  It turned out she was right, since the sidewalks had steps and so rolling our luggage didn’t really work.  I ended up hurting my back hauling our bags down that hill.  Go figure.

When we did get to the bottom of the hill, suddenly we didn’t know where to go.  There were several wharves there, and the Aurora itinerary simply said to “make sure that you are at the wharf for embarkation on Polar Pioneer at 1600 hours”, without indicating which wharf they meant.  We were just a block from the far eastern one, so I suggested starting there and working our way down the street till we found the one we needed.  As it turned out, our wharf was the first one, so it was a lucky guess.  Getting around with all that luggage in tow was extremely awkward, especially in the rain.

When we came to the wharf, we found an Antarctic Information Center where we could store our bags.  That freed us up to do other things, like explore the downtown, relax, and enjoy ourselves a little until we could board our ship.  So we walked up to the main drag, San Martín, hit some souvenir shops, bought some stamps, and exchanged another $100.  We went into a cafe (smoky, like all the others), where I had my usual—a cappuccino—and Sarah had a Café Antártido.  That seemed very appropriate—and yes, very touristy.  It was basically a coffee with cinnamon, as I recall.  Neither of us liked it much.

We also went into a locutorio (a place that sells phone and Internet access: when you’re done you pay the total at the front desk), and sent emails to various people, to let them know we’d arrived safely in Ushuaia.  Then we went back to the Antarctic Information Center to wait out the next couple of hours.  Hanging out in the cafes just wasn’t relaxing with the cigarette smoke everywhere.  We wanted to save most of the souvenir shopping for after we got back from the cruise, so we wouldn’t have to haul the souvenirs around on and off the ship.

Finally we hauled ourselves and our bags to the wharf, through the drizzle, and onto our ship.  We got safely squared away, and met some of our fellow shipmates.  One of the Aurora people, Greg, also delivered us a bottle of Chardonnay that had been sent by Expeditiontrips.com.  What a nice surprise!  Apparently they do that for all their customers, but for us it was that much more icing on the cake after coming so close to missing this trip.

We cast off from the dock and started out to sea, heading through the Beagle Channel.  After a while, we were brought downstairs for our first briefing, basically “Welcome aboard; these are the things you’ll need to know about and what we’ll be doing.”  A while later we had an abandon ship drill.  We put on life vests—the bulky ones they hope never to use—and headed up on deck.  The crew and the Aurora staff helped us get them on properly, and then we filed into the lifeboats.  These were special polar-class lifeboats: they look like submersibles—they’re fully covered.  Inside there was just enough space for us to sit.  Michael remarked that “the Shackleton experience is still an option for this trip.”  The lifeboats also included a motor, which we fired up to ensure it worked, plus enough fuel to get us from the Peninsula to Argentina, plus food and water, and even—we were told—a toilet.  That last bit of knowledge made us hope even more that we wouldn’t have to use the lifeboats.

Finally, we had dinner—spaghetti with a very bland meat sauce, plus garlic bread and salad without dressing.  Afterward, Sarah and I opened the Chardonnay to celebrate our having made it onboard, then we went up to the bridge to watch as the ship left the Channel.  After some time there, we were getting tired and began to realize it would be a while yet before we left the Channel, so we retired to our cabin and went to bed.
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Drake Passage

Woke to Michael’s voice announcing that breakfast was being served in 10 minutes.  After breakfast, I had a shower and went topside a few times, trying out my cold-weather gear.  It was really something to go out to the bow and hear the wind howl across the ship just like in the documentaries about the Antarctic explorers.

At 10:00 we had our second briefing.  Afterward, I wasn’t feeling quite right (notwithstanding my scopolamine patch), so I went back to our room and took a nap.  Me take a nap—can you believe it?  I did that several times on the Drake Passage.  We learned that seasickness is caused by your body trying to adjust to balancing in a moving vehicle when the things around you aren’t moving.  So if you lie down (and so aren’t trying to balance), you feel better, and the motion of the sea can actually have a lulling effect.

Sarah and I were both still pretty tired after our harrowing experience getting down there, and because we hadn’t had much sleep in the past four days.  In the evening, we attended the Captain’s Welcome drinks (a fruity punch that the bartender didn’t have a name for) just before dinner.
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           Drake Passage, Aitcho Islands
I slept much better last night, and we woke again to Michael’s announcement that breakfast was being served in 10 minutes.  Later that day we spotted penguins porpoising through the water.  That was something about penguin behavior that neither of us had known before this trip.  While swimming near the surface, when they’re trying to make time, penguins will porpoise: they leap into the air, then back into the water, then back into the air again, etc.  It lets them swim quickly, and breathe without having to stop.  Around 1:00 we spotted our first iceberg, and an hour or two later we sighted land.

0° C

We sailed between several islands and stopped in the middle of the Aitchos (the individual islands in that group aren’t named) in the South Shetland Islands.  Finally, they stopped the engines, dropped anchor, and we went ashore for the first time.  The swells were awfully high, and we had a good deal of trouble getting into the zodiacs.  They mentioned that these were about the roughest conditions in which they could hazard a landing.

The island housed several gentoo and chinstrap rookeries—more gentoos than chinstraps—plus several elephant seals, including two immature males who were practicing sparring with one another.  We wandered around the island, taking pictures.  It was really really something, after watching so many penguins in documentaries, to actually see them in person, in the wild, doing their penguiny things.  They are, indeed, just as adorable as they look on screen.  And they do all those things you see them do on TV—waddle, hop, fall down, toboggan, and collect and steal rocks from one another.

I definitely like the chinstraps better than the gentoos.  The gentoos are much noisier.  The chinstraps seem a lot more inquisitive, and friendlier than the gentoos.  We had an equally bumpy ride back to, and climbing aboard, Polar Pioneer, then got back into shipboard clothes and headed to the galley for dinner.  During dinner, the ship set sail for our next stop, the Antarctic Sound, which is just on the eastern side of the tip of the Antarctic Peninsula.
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   Gourdin Island, Brown Bluff, Weddell Sea

3° C
This morning we landed on Gourdin Island.  The sea was far calmer, and the air noticeably warmer, than yesterday.  On top of that, the wind wasn’t nearly as strong.  This island housed a huge colony of adélie penguins, with a few gentoos and chinstraps mixed in here and there.  So far, of the three species, the chinstrap seems the most inquisitive and friendly.

The adélies were just like they are in documentaries, and just as cute.  I’ve read many times how bad the penguins smell, but my impression so far is that they smell like a pier; they smell a lot like fish.  While it’s not a fragrant aroma, it’s not really revolting either.  On the other hand, we did learn on this trip that you can small their colonies from a distance.  “You can smell ’em before you see ’em.”  I found I could smell when we were approaching an island with penguins on it.

We climbed to the top of the island, where we found L-shaped steel stakes driven into the ground.  Each stake had cables attached to it, but the cables were partly wound around the stakes and weren’t attached to anything on the other end.  Tina said they were probably there for surveying purposes.  We also found some brightly colored yellow and purple cloth jammed around some rocks just over the top on the far side.  Tina said later that it was a flag; it looked to me like a cloth or clothes, but I never did get a good look at it.  We never identified the flag.  And, from the top of the island, we could see the Antarctic Peninsula.

Down the hill, we came back onto the snow and saw many more penguins, plus a few seals that were lying out on the snow.  At one point I found myself too near a seal.  Since earlier, because of its coloration, I had thought it might be a leopard seal, I backed off rather quickly, to Sarah’s amusement as she watched from a distance.  It turns out this was probably a Weddell seal, and looking back I think it had hardly noticed me.

We saw lots of penguins porpoising to and from the island, popping out onto shore or diving into the water, sometimes from a pretty good height (maybe 6 feet or so).  We also spotted a brown adélie penguin, mixed in with some others that were congregating at the ice, thinking about jumping in.  Greg told us that that was an Isabelline penguin, and that they’re fairly rare: something like one in 50,000.  It’s a genetic abnormality, akin to (but not the same as) albinism.  Basically, the penguin grows up light brown and white, rather than black and white: otherwise the penguin is normal, looking just like the others except for its coloration.

On our way back to the boat, we pulled up very close to several icebergs.  One pair that we went between were actually one: a channel had been dug in its center, deep enough not only to reach the waterline but to actually let a zodiac sail through.  Another, similarly, had a sort of bay carved out of it, which was just large enough for a zodiac to fit into—which we did.  Apparently, our driver, Sasha, has a reputation as being a little crazy.  They’re not supposed to take us into potentially dangerous spots like that.  We loved it though.  On top of the iceberg was a lone adélie that watched us approach, then moved away out of sight when we entered the berg.

2° C
Later that day we landed at Brown Bluff, an infrequently-visited spot on the Peninsula, just on the east side of its tip.  Sarah and I were elated—here it was our second day, and we were already landing on the Continent!  (Landing on the Continent had been one of my more important objectives on this trip.)  There was a huge colony of adélies here, going right up the slope until it got too steep for them to nest.  I wandered off to the far east side, where there turned out to be a small gentoo rookery.  I also found some undisturbed snow, and had a chance to taste Antarctic snow.  Tasted like snow.

The penguins really were everywhere here, and you couldn’t walk anyplace without herding penguins up or down the beach.  I thought we disturbed them more here than at any other landing sites.  So, since I was wearing waterproof boots and waterproof pants, I decided it would be a good idea to wade out into the sea a bit—and walk around the penguins.  Unfortunately, however, it seems my waterproof pants weren’t quite as waterproof as I’d been led to believe; I suddenly felt the cold trickle of Antarctic seawater inside my boots and spent the rest of that outing with cold, wet toes.

3° C
That evening we were having phenomenally good weather, so instead of heading back westward we continued east, into the Weddell Sea—very unusual.  Also abnormal were the conditions—flat, still water; no wind; even some breaks in the clouds.  Going into the Weddell Sea was an unexpected bonus!   Very cool.  We sailed at about 7½ knots, passing some huge tabular icebergs (probably from the Larsen Ice Shelf), several with steep vertical sides like the edges of ice shelves.  Passengers started coming up to the bow, many with glasses of wine, champagne, or beer.  With no wind, it felt much warmer than 3 degrees out.

Finally, we started to approach a vast, solid, flat stretch of pack ice.  As we came closer we began to speculate about how they were going to turn the ship around: stop and turn, turn sharply just before we hit, or what.  Then suddenly we realized we weren’t going to stop—we were going to actually ram the pack ice!!  And so we did, albeit at low speed; the captain had cut the engines before we hit, probably some distance before.  As we came up on it, I hung our over the bow a little to get a shot of our prow hitting the ice.  A moment later we backed out (we never much more than dented the ice) and headed back northwest.

Ramming the pack ice like that was one of the coolest things I’ve ever seen!  I never expected a tour company would do that.  It was from this point that Sarah and I started to be glad we had signed on with an Australian rather than an American tour company.  We doubted a company from the US would do so many marginally dangerous things as Aurora did; for fear of litigation, they’d be afraid to take chances.

Today was the longest day of the year in the Southern Hemisphere.
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           Astrolabe Island, Deception Island (Baily Head, Deception Island Station)
2° C
This morning we got up for an early breakfast at 7:00 (usually they were at 8:00), then took a zodiac cruise off the coast of Astrolabe Island.  (I think I heard that one of the zodiacs made a brief landing, but we did not.)  Saw a fair number of adélie, chinstrap, and gentoo penguins, both clinging to the slopes of the island and hanging out on icebergs.  Wherever there was enough horizontal space for two or three penguins to make a nest, there was a tiny rookery.  Michael was driving our zodiac that morning; he pointed out that there had been a lot of snow and ice that year, and the penguins were having a hard time getting back up to their nests.

We found another iceberg with the center carved out, only this time it had three towers rather than two—very pretty.  The kayakers were out, and they paddled through the center of it.  Michael then told us there’s a saying that what happens on the ship stays on the ship—and at that moment the zodiac was our ship.  He then piloted us through the iceberg.  Woohoo!

1° C
Next we returned to the South Shetland Islands, specifically to Deception Island.  About 80,000 years ago, this roughly circular island erupted, blowing out its center and a small piece of its side.  Seawater flooded in, creating a 10-kilometer-wide (6-mile-wide) bay in the volcano’s caldera.  Today, Deception Island is one of Antarctica’s natural wonders.  When conditions are right, it’s possible to actually swim in the water there—usually, I understand, at Pendulum Cove.  Actually, “swim” might be too strong a word; usually the area where the water is heated just right is pretty limited; too far to one side or the other and you either freeze or scald.  Usually people get into the water just so they can say they’ve swum in the water in Antarctica.  The best explanation I’ve heard for the island’s name is that it looks like a great place to anchor, but isn’t: the floor of the caldera consists of soft volcanic ash, which doesn’t hold an anchor, and strong winds whip over the sides of the volcano, so a ship at anchor will drift a lot.

First we went to Baily Head, which is outside the caldera.  There were landed in the roughest surf we experienced on this trip; they told us that this is always a difficult spot to land at.  Rather than just running our zodiacs onto shore as usual, they would time their final approach, ride us in on a wave, and try to evacuate the zodiac before the next wave came in.  Several passengers, Sarah included, fell into the water getting off the zodiacs.  One of us—Marilyn, our only Scottish passenger—dislocated her shoulder on that landing.  She was amazing, though—she didn’t let it stop her.  She kept making landings, and even camped, with her arm in a sling.

Baily Head features the largest chinstrap colony in the world.  There were roughly two hundred thousand of them—along the beach, up a gentle slope to a low hill, down into the valley beyond, and on the high mountainous slopes past that.  This was the most homogeneous colony we visited (in that very few of the penguins there weren’t chinstraps), and yet, ironically, it had more species of penguin than any other.  We saw a very few adélies; people reported seeing one or two gentoos, though I didn’t, and I spotted a single macaroni penguin.  I was standing near the edge of the rookery, watching the chinstraps…I looked around, and there it was.  What a surprise—this was awfully far south for macaronis, though apparently they can be seen occasionally in the South Shetlands.  The macaroni was mixed in at the edge of the chinstrap rookery, on the low hill.  The chinstraps didn’t seem to mind it being there, but it looked a bit out of place; we even thought it looked a little lost, perhaps.

I brought Sarah and two of our Dutch passengers over to see the macaroni, then after a bit I went off to the beach to look for Tina, our naturalist.  I didn’t find her, but on my way back I ran into Clive, the doctor, who was very interested to see it.  He was quite pleased, and took several photos.  Apparently he had never seen one before.

While we were watching, the macaroni got into a fight with one of the chinstraps.  It acted just like the angry macaronis in the David Atenborough documentaries: chest low, beak open and thrust out aggressively, making that annoying disagreeable sound they make when angry.  It even chased after the chinstrap, away from where it had been sitting, and didn’t seem in a hurry to return—though when it did, it brought back a small rock.  From all that we surmised that it did have something of a nest, but didn’t yet have an egg or chick.  It was somewhere after this point, having watched it sit back down for a bit, that one of us observed that it looked a bit lost there.

We managed to fight our way through the surf back to the ship, though not without difficulty.  Once I was in the zodiac, the retreating water started pulling it back toward the sea, and our Aurora guides fought to hold it close to shore.  Trying to be helpful, I stuck my leg down hard, into the water up to mid-thigh, digging into the sand and pushing against the seaward motion.  Most of what that got me, of course, was another boot full of water.  I thought back to my boot full of water yesterday and felt like an idiot for having forgotten and done the same thing a second time.

0°/-.5° C
Next we sailed through Neptune’s Bellows, the entrance to the caldera of Deception Island.  The caldera forms a huge bay—bigger than I had expected.  Inside, as we turned a corner—much to my surprise—we sighted another ship.  I made an educated guess that this was the MV Orlova (I had heard communications on the bridge mentioning Polar Pioneer and the Orlova), but I’ve since been told that this vessel was the Esperius, a supply ship returning from the Argentinean station in the caldera.

There were four stations inside the caldera of Deception Island.

· One was a British base, Station B: Deception Island Station, in Whalers’ Bay (which the Norwegians called New Sandefjord).  Whalers started using the bay in 1906 to anchor factory ships, which processed whale blubber but couldn’t process the meat and bones.  Since those hold 60% of a whale’s oil, the Norwegian whaling company Hvalfangerselskabet Hektor A/S, under a lease from the UK, set up a whaling station onshore in 1912 to process the meat and bones.  The station was closed in 1931, due to a slump in whale oil prices and technological advances that allowed the whole whale to be processed onboard ship.  At the end of 1943 the British set up a meteorological station there, initially reusing buildings from the old whaling station, including Biscoe House, which had been a dormitory and became the main accommodation building.  The station was temporarily evacuated December 5, 1967 after volcanic eruptions.  It was reoccupied on December 4, 1968 and abandoned permanently February 23, 1969 when more eruptions damaged the buildings.  The site was partially cleaned up in 1991 and 1992: basically, the British removed hazardous materials (fuel, batteries, etc.) from the site, but left everything else where it was.  

· In 1948, Argentina built Decepción Station in Fumarole Bay.  During the 1967 eruptions, the ground under the station bulged up something like a meter, and it was temporarily abandoned, but the volcano settled down and the base is still in operation.  

· On February 18, 1955 in Pendulum Cove, Chile built a research station called Pedro Aguirre Cerda, which was destroyed by the 1967 eruption.

· In 1988, Spain built a refuge hut in Fumarole Bay, near Decepción Station.  In 1988-89 they upgraded it to a research station, Gabriel de Castilla.  It is still in operation.

As we sailed into the caldera, Michael pointed out over the intercom the abandoned British station off our starboard side.  After a bit he announced dinner, and the crew set about looking for a possible swimming spot.  After dinner, Michael announced that the tide was high and they couldn’t find any areas with steam rising off (which would have signaled potential swimming locations), so we would not be swimming after all.  I was almost relieved, having just been out a couple hours ago and having gotten a bit wet.  There was no “almost” about it for Sarah, who still had a lot of wet clothes from her dunking in the water.  Instead, Michael announced we would be landing at the abandoned British station.  I was ecstatic—we were going to visit a historic site!

This was, by a hair, the coldest landing we made.  It also felt very cold because of the strong winds at the site (but which, we were told, were mild for that spot).  At either end of the site was a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) where we couldn’t go.  There were two buildings in reasonably good condition, and another that had largely fallen apart.  There were also several huge round tanks (which had held fuel and water for the whaling ships), boilers and an oven or kiln for rendering whale oil, many smaller artifacts strewn around (remains of barrels, etc.), and a hangar, with the fuselage of a plane outside; the wings were inside the hangar.  Sir Hubert Wilkins used this spot to make the world’s first powered flights over Antarctica in the austral summer of 1928-29.  (The two aircraft were the Los Angeles and the San Francisco; the first flight over Antarctica was in the Los Angeles on November 29, 1928.)  Years later, when the British occupied the site, their base used Sir Hubert’s airstrip.  This plane was one of the base’s survey aircraft, a DeHavilland of Canada UH-1B single-engine Otter, which operated there during the 1960s.

Sarah and I explored the site.  She had come along just to be a good sport, as there were no penguins there except a few gentoos along the beach.  We were actually permitted to enter the dilapidated buildings (which we did, cautiously), at our own risk.  The buildings are nearing a century old, some of them, and their foundations were damaged by the eruptions, so they are gradually falling down.  Michael mentioned later on that the British government isn’t sure just what to do with the site, as it hasn’t quite decided whether it’s a historic site or a junkyard.

At some point, one of the passengers—Oliver, who turned out to be Greg’s son—actually fell into a well that had been hidden by volcanic ash.  Apparently an old plank stopped him at the last minute.  It’s hard to say what we would have done had he not been stopped like that.  But as it was, no one got hurt, and no harm was done.  Again, Sarah and I thanked our lucky stars that we were with an Australian company; an American one would probably have cut the landing short and then held a meeting where they laid down new restrictions for all future landings on the trip.  In this case, by contrast, when we returned to the ship, people just didn’t talk about it.  I’m sure some of that had to do with the fact that the accident involved the son of one of the tour operators, but just the same, I’m sure an American company would have handled this much less well than Aurora did.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

December 23




 Gerlache Strait, Neko Harbor, Paradise Bay

We woke this morning in the Gerlache Strait, off Brabant Island.  The shore on either side is lined with beautiful mountains.  The rock on them is fairly dark, giving the area somewhat of a black-on-white look that kept making me crave hot fudge sundaes.  After breakfast, we briefly sighted a small pod of minke whales.  I saw them once, but by the time I returned with my camera, they were just about gone.  Apparently minkes are more shy than most other whales.  We saw one blow from a distance, then nothing.

4°/5.5° C
We landed at Neko Harbor, where there was a small- to mid-sized gentoo colony, an Argentinean hut, and two very active glaciers coming down to the sea.  (The hut is an emergency resupply shelter; we were told the Argentineans have placed a lot of them on the Peninsula to bolster their territorial claims there.)  We drove the zodiacs through the brash ice on the stillest water we’d taken them on so far.  I wanted to see the inside of the hut, but we couldn’t approach it as it was surrounded by nesting gentoos.  So we went up the hill along the main body of the colony.  After that Sarah and I separated, with her climbing the hill with most of our group, and me descending to the beach, where it ended next to the righthand glacier.

I alternately sat and stood next to the glacier, listening to it, as one of the tour guides had suggested.  Mostly (and at first), a glacier sounds like dripping water, something like the inside of a cave.  But as you listen, you notice that it occasionally makes other sounds.  Every so often it makes a cracking sound, as one part slips or grinds against another.  Also, every once in a while, it makes a grind-and-rumble sound as a piece comes off, or a loud smack as a small piece from higher up hits the water (the edges of these glaciers rise something like two or three stories above the water).  I waited, camera in hand, hoping a big impressive piece would calve off and give us a big display to photograph.  Unfortunately, though we did see several pieces fall, I was always too slow to properly capture them.  The first was a midsized avalanche, but it was up on the mountains in the background.  We also saw a fairly large chunk break off right at the bottom, but I was looking up where the avalanche had occurred and didn’t catch it in time.  Lastly, we had a couple of small bits fall off from up high—they made one hell of a racket when they hit the water!

I started heading back toward the landing area.  Along the way I came upon a group of three gentoos on the beach.  Since I had time (a zodiac had just left), I approached them to about the minimum safe distance, then squatted down, faced the ocean, and ignored them.  One indulged its curiosity a bit and approached me from behind at about seven or eight o’clock, up to just outside arm’s reach I think.  It came aside me at looked at me from the side for a minute, then waddled off.  I think that was the closest I ever got to a penguin; it was exciting to be that close!

As was the case most places we visited, the ground was mostly rocky.  Glaciers and weather tend to carry out lighter items (like soil) to sea, while heavier things (like rocks) are left behind.  While watching the glacier, I looked around till I found a patch of something resembling dirt, and planted my feet on it—so I could say later that I had stood on Antarctic soil. 

The zodiacs were out whale watching, and we were going to do the same, but by the time we got out into the water the whales had moved on—so instead, we went straight back to the ship.  I was just as happy we did that anyway; by that time I was ready to head back.  I think it was on this outing that Sarah saw a whale up close.  She had left the landing site earlier than I had, and they managed to spot several whales.  She was seated in the bow of the zodiac, and at one point a whale dove underneath the bow of the boat.

While we were anchored in Neko Harbor, the Grigory Mikheev caught up with us.  It seems that Sergei, the radio operator on that ship, was engaged to Elena, our laundry operator (who, it seems, is a physician, but hasn’t been able to find work as a doctor, and has had to take a job in the ship’s laundry).  Sergei was brought over in a decorated zodiac to escort Elena back to the Mikheev for the wedding.  She was late, of course.  Sergei came aboard but she wasn’t there to greet him.  He went below decks, and we waited…and waited…finally lunch was being served and she still wasn’t ready, so many of us decided to get on to the important things.

Lunch was being served on the bow that day, in honor of the wedding.  They served a Thai soup, which was very good but also very spicy, and terribly greasy pizza.  We had all been invited to the wedding, and had the option to attend, which however would cut into our lunch.  With the delay, however, those few who chose to attend had to actually miss lunch and catch cold bits of it which had been left out for them in the dining room on their return.  They reported that the wedding was “nice”, but not especially remarkable.

5° C
We then moved on to Paradise Bay.  Along the way, we passed two stations.  The first was Chile’s González Videla Station, which is making an effort lately to bolster Chile’s territorial claim to the Peninsula.  Whenever a ship passes, they radio the vessel, identifying themselves as “González Videla Port Control” and demanding to know where the ship is from, where it’s going, etc.  The next was Argentina’s Almirante Brown Station, which was abandoned for several years starting in 1983.  It seems that, as winter approached, the station doctor decided he couldn’t face an entire winter there, and burned down most of the buildings so they would have to be rescued. 

Rather than make a landing, we went on a zodiac cruise.  Paradise Bay is a protected cove mostly enclosed by mountains: there are only 2 or 3 exits.  In the Bay, you’re surrounded by the same sort of hot-fudge-sundae mountains I had liked so much in the Gerlache Strait.  Several spots had large glaciers running to the water, or had deep drifts of snow that had folded against one another.  Paradise Bay is aptly named, in that it’s one of the most scenic spots on the Peninsula.

Greg brought us up alongside one of the glaciers, very close…dangerously close, I would’ve considered it.  But, it wasn’t excessive danger, Greg knew what he was doing and kept an eye and ear open, and it was fun.  He also brought us over to a very wide, but shallow, cave in the ice (what he called a hole in the glacier).  About that time, we also witnessed a big avalanche on one of the mountains.  I managed to get some good shots of that.

While out there, we passed a nematode eel egg sac, which Greg pulled out of the icy water with his bare hands and held up for people to look at and touch—ick!—if they wanted.  Also, earlier on I had spotted a couple of very small blue jellyfish near the surface; the blue looked like it might be phosphorescence, like we had seen on jellies in the Monterey Bay Aquarium’s “Mysteries of the Deep” exhibit.

Apparently while in Paradise Bay, we went into Ferguson Bay at one point.

That night, around midnight, we passed through the Lemaire Channel.  Michael had been very particular that we should stay up and watch as the ship went through.  Sarah and I were very tired, so we slept until Michael woke us up, announcing over the intercom that we were about to arrive.

As usual, Sarah headed for the bridge while I went out on the bow.  A number of the Australians, Britons, and New Zealanders (a.k.a. “Kiwis”) were up there drinking and being generally rowdy.  Declaring that “You guys are having altogether too much fun”, I went back to our cabin, retrieved my hip flask and a warm can of Guinness, and joined them.  Andy was up there, and I gave him a couple sips from my flask; he thought the bourbon I had was really good stuff.  I felt obliged to explain that what I had (Ten High) was very cheap bourbon, and that I’d brought a 1.75-liter bottle of it from the States.

The ship passed through the Channel and anchored in Girad Bay, after which we headed aft to the bar, and after a little while things really started heating up, as it were.  They played a lot of loud music (including Chumbawamba) and danced.  Those Aussies, Britons, and Kiwis sure can party!  I remember looking out the windows at an ice-covered mountain, thinking how strange it was to be having such a party in Antarctica, of all places—considering the harshness and danger of the surroundings.  I finished my third Guinness and left early, between 1:00 and 1:30, and fell right to sleep.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

December 24
   Vernadsky Station (& Wordie House), Yalour Islands, Pleneau Is. (Camping)
9°/10°/12° C
I awoke hung over; Sarah awoke annoyed, not just because I had disappeared the night before, but also because she would have wanted to go back to the bar with us (and because, she says, I get whiny when I’m hung over).  We shuffled in for breakfast.  We had arrived at the Argentine Islands, and Michael announced that we would be visiting Akademik Vernadsky Station, which is Ukrainian now but used to be British.  It was built by the UK in 1947 and turned over to Ukraine in 1996 when the UK scaled down its Antarctic program.  This was Faraday Station, where the measurements were taken that led to the discovery of the ozone hole.

As is apparently typical for research stations, they asked us to land only half our passengers at a time.  The other half would go around Galindez Island (which Vernadsky is on) to Winter Island, where the original British base in the area was located.  This station, called Wordie House, was basically a hut; it’s been designated a historic site.  Michael also reminded us about the Secret Santa thing they had planned for the next day.  This was the first that Sarah and I (or most of the US and Dutch passengers, for that matter) had heard about it.  Apparently those who booked through other companies (e.g., Expeditiontrips.com), rather than directly through Aurora, don’t always get the word on this sort of thing.  He mentioned that there was a small shop at the station, and that anyone who had forgotten to bring a gift could pick up a little something (≤$10.00US) there.

We ended up in the second group, the one that would go to the old station first (apparently we weren’t fast or enthusiastic enough to make it on deck fast enough—which was mostly my fault).  We sailed past the station, then came around and approached a sheet of flat, thin fast ice (much like what we had run the ship into in the Weddell Sea) with a few penguins and seals on it.  Sarah asked me if we were going to land there, and I replied that no, we were just having a look, because the ice was too thin.

Much to my surprise, a couple seconds later Greg revved the engine and ran the front of the zodiac up onto the ice!  It held, and he walked to the front of the boat and actually stepped out onto the ice!  I couldn’t believe he did that.  He walked around a bit, poked and stomped around, testing the ice, then declared it safe (but told us not to remove our life jackets).  We then walked perhaps a quarter mile over the fast ice, on what I later learned was frozen Skua Creek, toward the hut.

Then we reached a tricky spot.  We couldn’t walk straight ahead because the snow was too high and there was open water just before the high snow.  We could climb off to our left but the ice there wasn’t entirely solid.  Greg tested the ice and found a secure path but cautioned us to “follow exactly in my footsteps.”  To get up you had to walk over a couple of bergy bits that were more or less stationary, but moved when you stood on them (“wobbly”, Greg called them), and you had to take a long, high step up to a makeshift foothold on a snow bank, then climb up steeply for a couple yards.  As Greg warned us, this was the path for the more acrobatic members of the group; the others would go back down the creek and around in the zodiacs to a closer, easier landing spot.

We reached Wordie House, explored it, then waited some time before Greg came around with the zodiacs.  Most everyone made it up that slope—and many of these were not spring chickens like Sarah and myself.  These people were such troopers!  While we waited at the hut, the temperature rose to a downright warm 12°C.  We were taking off some of our outer clothes to cool down, and Ian actually stripped down to his swimsuit and took a quick swim!  Then the zodiacs arrived, and we crossed over to Galindez Island and Vernadsky Station.

The Ukrainians were hospitable and very polite, and they spoke reasonably good English.  They showed us around the station’s lower story, which houses the living areas and scientific equipment.  I hung out in back of the group, making sure I was the last to leave each room so I could get a picture.  Several of the photos I took were of the station’s computers.  They had a wide range of them: some state of the art, some very old.  I saw one old enough that it featured a 5¼” disk drive; they didn’t seem to be using that one any longer, thank goodness.  Also, their Windows installations were generally in Cyrillic writing—either Ukrainian or Russian, I assumed.

Then we went upstairs through the dining hall into a small pub, which even had a pool table.  (Sarah and I didn’t stop to enjoy ourselves, though, as the pub was very smoky.)  Off the side of the pub was the shop Michael had mentioned, which turned out to be a gift shop: “The Southernmost Souvenir Shop on The Earth”, as it advertised.

Inside they sold T-shirts, a lot of Ukrainian/Russian-style wooden trinkets (mostly small plaques, which reminded me of souvenir shopping in the USSR), and some other things.  We bought a couple of the plaques, a 1-grivny piece, and a T-shirt with the name of the station.  Then we found the post office downstairs, mailed some post cards, and left.

While inside the station, I had started not feeling so well.  I was off to a bad start in the first place by being hung over, but while indoors there, I also started feeling some motion sickness.  Sarah and some of the others noticed the same feeling.  It was awfully strange to feel motion sickness while we weren’t moving.  I continued to feel vaguely seasick until we boarded the zodiacs again.  Life is strange.

While waiting to board the zodiacs to return to the ship, I had a chance to thank our second tour guide, whose name I don’t recall.  I also mentioned I wasn’t sure whether they were glad to see us or whether we were imposing on them.  He replied that, after spending the winter there, they were pretty glad to see other people.

?° C
Later that day we made our southernmost landing, at 65°15’, on the Yalour Islands.  The island where we landed housed a large adélie colony with a smattering of gentoos.  The penguins were shyer here than they had been at Brown Bluff—possibly because we were closer to their nests, or because they were farther from the sea, or because here they were roosting on rocks surrounded by snow.  Also I noticed that, because of the snowy terrain, the penguins here did more tobogganing than walking.  It was surprising to see them actually toboggan uphill.

I walked a ways to the west, away from other people, then stopped near a rookery for a long while, hunched down and pretended to ignore them, hoping they would approach.  I got several not-too-distant photos of them tobogganing past or standing looking at me.  Liz came by and we trudged over the hill to the north, where most of the penguins came out of the water and not many people were around.  Tobogganing uphill, seen from a distance the penguins looked a bit like an ant trail.  We sat on some rocks near shore but away from their main thoroughfare, and watched them.  A few of the more enterprising ones came up pretty close to us there.

While we were there, I spotted some tiny insectlike creatures on the rocks we were sitting on.  One of them would come out from between a pair of rocks, scurry over one of them, then disappear between the rocks again.  Very very strange; I never thought we’d find bugs in Antarctica.  I took several photos of them—but later, much to my dismay, found that I had forgotten to set the camera to shoot close-up, and all the pictures came out too blurry to make out anything.  A couple of the penguins came up pretty close to us here (probably because we weren’t close to their nests), and one actually came up very close to Liz.  After a while, we headed back, just in time to catch the last zodiac off the island.

When I mentioned the bugs to Tina, the seemed very interested to see them.  It turned out that from my description of “insectlike things”, she had inferred they were fairly large insectlike things, which would have been surprising to see there; later on she figured/found out that what I had seen were very small, which was normal.  After returning to New Zealand, she did some research on them and told me they were probably Belgica Antarctica, a wingless midge found on and around the Peninsula, but no further south.
11°-1° C
That night was camping night.  The weather was perfect and we found a suitable area to do it.  After dinner we got our sleeping bags and mats and boarded the zodiacs; Sarah and I were lucky enough to board the first one, which Greg was piloting.  We started looking around for a place to camp.  At one point we approached a large expanse of fast ice, which was so thin near the edge that I was sure we wouldn’t be able to land on it, but Greg gunned the engine and rammed it with the zodiac anyway (much like he did at Skua Creek).  This time it was too thin, as the ice broke apart when we hit.  After that Greg turned his attention to the island across from the ice.  We found a feasible landing spot, and came ashore, with Oli and me jumping out front and holding the zodiac against the snow.

We had landed on the largest of the Pleneau Islands.  An easy majority of the passengers camped that night, and of those, the larger number followed Greg’s strong recommendation and slept out in the open.  Those sleeping in the open laid out on the rocks, while those in tents (like Sarah and me) set up on the snow.  It was much warmer in the tents—especially when the wind picked up a little—but everything inside got damp, and we had a tendency to track snow into the tent, notwithstanding I had spent some time packing down the snow in front of the tent to minimize that.

It was 11°C when we first set up, and Sarah and I found a rock to sit on and look out away from camp.  We chatted and watched the beautiful scenery and the other campers.  A Weddell seal came along close to shore near us.  It was neat to hear the sound it made when it exhaled: it was a powerful, forceful breathing, and so close!  Then it swam around to a more populated section of camp, where most of the campers assembled and pointed and photographed as it did some little acrobatic motions—seemingly enjoying the attention.  

There was also a small rookery nearby, and we saw a few gentoos and adélies around.  They checked us out a little, but kept their distance.  There was an adélie on the fast ice across the water, which would watch us a bit, then start walking toward the water to the side (i.e., parallel to our camp, toward our right), then stop and watch us a little, then continue on again.  Every now and then one of its feet would go through the thin ice and it would fall forward, then toboggan a bit before stopping, getting up, and watching us briefly.  It was a cute little drama, and Sarah made sure to get a picture of the little guy.

Eventually, approaching midnight, people bedded down and went to sleep, much to our relief—the rowdy bunch had chosen to camp, and we had feared they might stay up all night talking.  We took a picture of our camp at midnight (which looked remarkably like our camp in the early evening), then went to sleep ourselves.  By this time the temperature had dropped to 1°C and a slight wind had started, which made it seem much colder than it actually was, and made us glad we’d chosen to use a tent.

The “facilities” here consisted of a huge rock which sloped steeply toward the water, then flattened a bit, which provided a measure of privacy and—for the women—cracks in the rock which would drain liquids into the sea.  (If you had to do anything more serious, there was an open-air port-a-potty to use.)  It seemed strange, after all the focus on leaving nothing behind in Antarctica, to even urinate into the ocean.  But that’s what we were supposed to do, so we did.

At one point, Sarah and I got up in the middle of the night to use the (non-)facilities.  The seal we’d seen earlier (or perhaps another) was back in the water near our tent, where we’d first seen and heard it.  It was kind of neat, though vaguely creepy, to see it there again.  Possibly it was curious about us.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

December 25








  Port Lockroy

We woke Christmas morning at about 7:00, to the sounds of everyone packing up.  Dressing and packing didn’t take place entirely sequentially for me, since I was being a little sluggish and Sarah didn’t feel like waiting on me.  The result was that I hadn’t gotten my gloves on when we started pulling things out of the tent and folding it up.  Since it felt reasonably warm out and Michael was there helping us, I decided I could use my bare hands a little.  Little did I know how quickly unprotected fingers will chill right to the bone, and though we were off the island within an hour of waking, it seemed an eternity before I was able to warm my icy fingers.  My toes were also very cold from walking in the snow that morning, but nothing like my fingers.  I had been too cold to appreciate it at the time, but looking back on it, it was awfully nice when one of the non-camping passengers had looked over the side of the ship and told us “Welcome back” as we approached.

Later that day, Michael announced that the weather was starting not to cooperate, causing us to cancel our planned landing at a large penguin colony; instead, we were going to land at Port Lockroy.  Port Lockroy is the most visited spot in Antarctica; the British have renovated it as a historical site, and have made it into a veritable tourist trap.  They keep a crew of resident custodians in the Austral summer, and even maintain a British post office and souvenir shop there (in the same room).  Since they have a post office there, Sarah and I hurriedly wrote up a couple of post cards to mail.  

Sarah had been on the bridge when Greg hailed the station.  He asked what they were doing that Christmas morning; they replied that they’d just sat down for a cup of tea, and would be glad to see us.  As we approached, we saw two yachts at anchor just off the island.  One was the Pelagic, an Italian vessel; the other, larger, darker one was flying the French flag.  Coming closer, we saw Port Lockroy hoist the Union Jack, at which the Britons on board started shouting patriotically.  I later heard that, before we left, Tina was becoming very annoyed with the yachts.  It seems she had tried repeatedly to hail them, but they failed to respond—apparently not manning their radios full-time, as they are supposed to.  The hails were a part of protocol before leaving port, and their radio silence delayed our departure.

5°/6° C
On landing, we received a friendly welcome from one of the custodians, a bearded fellow who looked very appropriate to find there.  Sadly, though, I must say I found Port Lockroy a bit disappointing.  It’s especially unfortunate since I’d heard so much about it and had been really hoping we could visit this spot.  I had thought it was a large site with a good deal to see, including a number of old buildings.  Instead, it consisted basically of Bransfield House, the main building, plus a smaller, closed building, which was a boatshed.  (There also remained the foundations of the station’s original storehouse, which we couldn’t approach because penguins were roosting there.)  There were a couple of whale bones near the boathouse, but not the big ones I’d seen pictures of.  Additionally, though it was nicely fixed up, the main building was kind of touristy.  Basically, the whole place just didn’t feel right.  I think the issue was that there was very little feel of adventure to this place, and I had expected otherwise—and also, my expectations had just been too high in the first place.

Port Lockroy itself is on Goudier Island, and houses a small gentoo colony.  One of the passengers joked that the British have to have a colony everywhere.  About a third of the island was cordoned off as a Penguin Study Area—the British are conducting an ongoing study of how large numbers of visitors affect penguins’ breeding.  The penguins on this island were the most brazen we’d seen; apparently they had come to learn that humans are not predators.  A gentoo rookery filled what might be called the station’s front yard; some of them were roosting right next to the walkway to the station’s front door.  We walked right past them, and they hardly turned their heads to look—that was amazing.  Those coming and going along the penguin tracks would stop and wait if you were in their way, like the others we’d seen elsewhere, but closer to you, and without the hesitant “Is that thing going to eat me?” watchfulness of the others.  Instead they kind of stood there waiting for you to move on.  Sarah described it as a “Well, aren’t you gonna get out of the way?” attitude they’d developed.

We walked around admiring the nesting gentoos, then some of us were taken by zodiac across the water to near the spot on Wiencke Island where the nearly-complete whale skeleton is laid out—but the ice wasn’t sturdy enough for us to land there, so we never got a real look at it.  So instead we turned left and landed on a large section of fast ice very similar to what we had walked on at Skua Creek.  The ice reached out from a glacier coming off of Wiencke Island, which was very photogenic.  Obviously we weren’t supposed to approach it too closely, lest we be in the wrong place when a large piece came down.  After a while, I and several others got cold and tired and started waiting at the landing spot for a zodiac to pick us up.  When it finally came, we climbed aboard and ended what turned out to be our last landing in Antarctica.

A while after we returned to the ship, we passed through the Neumayer Channel—another beautiful passage, surrounded by dark mountains caked with snow, like those we had seen at Paradise Bay, the Lemaire Channel, and the Gerlache Strait.  A half hour later we went downstairs for a big Christmas lunch.  Much later we congregated in the bar for the Secret Santa thing.  Bob showed up as Santa, with Michael as a sort of elf and Tina wearing a pair of reindeer antlers.  The antlers kept falling down, but always just one at a time, so one was always sticking up.  Tina was obviously lit, which was nicely exaggerated by the fallen antlers, and Bob made the raciest Santa I’d ever seen.  Needless to say, there was a lot of laughter and good fun.

At the end of the Secret Santa thing, they announced that there would not be another landing, and that we were now en route to Ushuaia.  This didn’t come as any great surprise considering the way the Aurora people had been drinking at lunch.  Still, I was disappointed; I hated for Port Lockroy and that walk on the ice to be our last stop…but, considering how many extra things we’d been able to do because of the good weather on this trip, I couldn’t legitimately complain.  So when the party broke up, we went about doing whatever we needed to get done.

By this time the ship was rocking pretty badly (worse, we thought, than on the way down), meaning we were back into the open sea—so continued drinking was out for most of us.  Many of those who did keep drinking that night got powerful sick, and we heard them in the hallways as we lay in our bunks, not a good thing as we were fighting off seasickness ourselves.  When dinner came, attendance was sparse.  Even Sarah and I, with our scopolamine patches, were feeling borderline.  We had a light dinner, skipped dessert, even though it included ice cream, and went straight to bed.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

December 26








Drake Passage

This morning we had a “What we’ve seen” recap session, where we went over the places we’d been, and the wildlife we’d spotted.  The afternoon featured a “How to catch a baby albatross” lecture where Tina showed slides from an albatross study project she participated in on Campbell Island.  I left halfway through so I could do some laundry and give it time to dry before we reached Ushuaia.

Next, we went on a tour of the engine room, hosted by the ship’s third engineer—it was neat, but somehow not as interesting as I had expected.  At 6:00pm we went downstairs to watch the rest (episodes 3 & 4) of “Life in the Freezer”, but those episodes had gone missing, so instead they substituted “Antarctica: Under the Ice”.  Later, after dinner, we wrote post cards and read till about 10:15, then went to bed.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

December 27




         Drake Passage, Diego Ramirez Islands

This morning we watched Tina’s presentation on her trip to the Falklands 20 years ago (one year after the Falklands War) aboard a French yacht.  Then we saw Neil’s presentation on his condition.  We never did find out just what his condition was, though it seems it might be something unique and therefore unnamed.  (Apparently, at age 7, he suddenly lost all his coordination.)  But it was good that almost everyone came down there to support him.  This was really a good group of people we had.  After Neil’s presentation, we had our disembarkation briefing, followed by lunch.  

After lunch the ship approached the Diego Ramirez Islands, which are held by Chile.  The Aurora crew had never seen the islands, but on this particular occasion the weather had turned out better on the return voyage than expected, so we made better progress and had time for a small side venture.  We didn’t land, because the Chileans are touchy about people doing so without special permits—but we were at least able to see the islands.  Chile maintains a station there, which we could just barely make out.  We came to about 2½ miles (I assume nautical miles) of the islands, then veered to the northeast to head for Ushuaia.  

Then Sarah and I started packing, with me running around the ship every now and then looking for Tina, hoping to catch her at a good time to look at the insectlike critters I’d photographed on the Yalour Islands.  I finally did get with her at one point, but when we went to the office, we found that their laptop, an iBook, didn’t have a PC-Card bay.  Can you believe that?  What the hell is a laptop without a PC-Card bay?!  But, since the photos came out too blurry to be useful, in the end it didn’t make a difference.

That evening we had drinks with the captain, followed by an awards ceremony.  Those of us who camped each received a certificate stating that he or she had “qualified as an Antarctic camper by spending the night out in substantial snow at Pleneau Island (65°06’S, 64°04’W), slept soundly without regard for personal danger of frozen extremeties [sic] and has therefore been accepted as a life member of SAC” (the Society of Antarctic Campers).  Those who kayaked got similar certificates, as did those (like Ian) who chose to swim in the water—including Liz from Canada, who actually skinny-dipped off the boat(!)  Their certificates showed them as members of the Antarctic Swim Team.  Then we went downstairs for a special seafood dinner.  

After dinner we went to the bar and split up into groups for the Great Antarctic Quiz.  We called our group Team Adélie (my suggestion), and we ended up the winners!  (A lot of that may have been because I’d happened by chance to read the second half of the Antarctic Primer the night before when there was little else to do.)  Our prize was a bottle of champagne, which we dispatched with speed.  After that, the Aussis, Kiwis, and Britons began the real drinking, while Sarah and I returned to our cabin, figuring we had a lot more use for a good night’s sleep than a good taste of the night life.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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          Ushuaia

We rose our final time onboard ship, showered, and had a hearty breakfast.  We also did our final packing.  While that was going on, the Aurora personnel went through a routine they do with the Argentinean customs officials.  The customs officers come aboard and say that they have to inspect everyone’s passports, and the Aurora people respond that no they don’t, because they never left Argentina (referring to the country’s territorial claims to the Peninsula).  They go back and forth for a while, give the officers a bottle of booze, and then get clearance to let everyone off.

Once that was over, they held a final debriefing in the port-side dining room, where Michael said a few words and we were reissued our passports, which had been stamped in Antarctica, at Vernadsky station.  Then we double-checked our cabins to make sure we hadn’t forgotten anything, and we (the passengers) were essentially hustled off the ship.  (The Russian crew needs time to clean the cabins before the next group of passengers arrives later in the day.)  The local harbor officials ushered us onto the FREE BUS and we were taken to the landward end of the wharf—though Sarah and I would have just as soon have walked.  We then—eventually—got a taxi to take us to the Amanecer de la Bahía.

Just inside we met Miguel, the owner.  He told us we did have a reservation, but there would be no rooms available till the middle of the day.  That wasn’t a problem, since we were welcome to leave our bags there, which we did, and headed for downtown.  We walked up and down San Martín many times, taking care of our souvenir shopping, having coffee, etc.  We found that the cafes were poor places to hang out, because the locals smoke in them, like everywhere else.  What we found were good places to relax were the craft chocolate shops: probably to keep the handmade chocolate from being damaged by cigarette smoke, they prohibited smoking inside, and you can still get coffee and espresso drinks in them, as well as cocoa.  Yet even these places (or at least one of them) still sold cigarettes, even though you couldn’t smoke them there.

While inside one of the cafes that morning, we sat near Pete, the bartender, who was looking pretty ragged.  Apparently they had kept him up till something like 4:00 in the morning.  During the day we also passed, and sometimes stopped to talk to, many of the passengers from the ship.  It seems a lot of them weren’t leaving town right away, as we had expected.  It was nice to run into them; it kind of let the cruise taper off rather than just end suddenly—especially considering the way our disembarkation had disintegrated into a confused bustle.

The first time we returned to the hostel (near 2:00), Thane and Sarah’s mom called just as we were walking through the door.  Unbelievable timing!  After that, Miguel told us his wife was cleaning our room and it would be ready soon.  We moved in and got settled.  Then Miguel called Fernando and we arranged for him to come by at 5:00.  We went back downtown and continued shopping.

On our way back, we were approaching the hostel at about 4:30 and saw Moriaki in front of his store.  We hadn’t planned to visit him yet, since we only had a half hour till Fernando was scheduled to arrive, but now it would’ve been rude to just pass by—so we went inside.  He received us with the same kind of hospitality as before except this time the conversation was a bit easier to make out (possibly because we didn’t talk long enough to exhaust many topics), and this time, instead of making sen-cha, he opened a large bottle of Quilmes.  When 5:00 came, we had to practically push our way out the door.  We then walked over to the hostel and began waiting for Fernando.  After we’d waited three quarters of an hour for him to show up, Miguel’s wife suggested that we could leave the gifts there and they would give them to him when he arrived.  So I wrote him a quick note, and he got them while we were gone.

We went back downtown for dinner, finding that 5:00 was awfully early for dinner down there, and many restaurants weren’t open yet (which had the advantage that, being almost the only people inside, we didn’t have to put up with cigarette smoke).  Finally we settled on a place called Casa de Mariscos (House of Shellfish), where we had steaks of the quality that we’d come to expect in Argentina.  Afterward, we picked up a couple bottles of Argentinean wine for gifts (we bought malbec wine, since malbec grapes are specific to Argentina).  We also stopped at the one shop we had seen selling Argentinean craft beers.  Finally, an Argentinean beer with some flavor!  I bought two of their darkest; one was a dark rauchbier, the other a high-gravity winter brew (8% alcohol).  The rauchbier wasn’t bad, though Sarah didn’t care for it.  The winter beer was tasty, though not quite extraordinary.  It did have a nice, though subtle, malty flavor.

The Amanecer de la Bahía is a nice little place, but somewhat haphazardly—and perhaps flimsily—constructed.  The walls are very thin; on the first floor, at least, you can clearly hear the TV and conversations in the living room.  That said, the hostel is clean and there is no shortage of hot water.  The owner, Miguel, is a very nice guy, polite, helpful, and welcoming.  Unfortunately, people do smoke in the common areas, but that’s pretty unavoidable in Argentina, and, at least, they don’t allow smoking in the bedrooms.

People seem to stay awake till 2:00am there; there were people talking in the common area when we went to bed, and when I woke around 1:30 there was still loud conversation going on.  People there don’t seem to have any conception of lowering their voices when others are trying to sleep, one of my pet peeves.  Still, I did make it through the night.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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          Ushuaia to Sacramento

We woke at seven and boarded our plane for Buenos Aires without incident.  Once there, we found it was warm, humid, and raining.  We were also tired of travel by this point and didn’t want any unneeded complications—so we asked our driver to take us directly to Ezeiza rather than dropping us off downtown and picking us up later.  We waited at the airport for many hours before boarding our flight to Miami.  While waiting, we ran into Bob and the Gordons, the last people from the cruise whom we were to meet on our way back.  All our flights went without complications, except that we were followed by screaming children with inattentive parents on each and every flight, and neither of us got any real sleep.  Finally, we returned safely to Sacramento the morning of December 30, some thirty-two hours after leaving Ushuaia.

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Appendixes

Antarctic Tourism

Tourism to the White Continent has increased dramatically since the fall of the Soviet Union.  The USSR maintained a lot of research ships in Polar waters.  Since the USSR collapsed, these vessels are no longer being maintained by the government, and have to pay their own way.  So, many of them have been refitted to carry passengers, and are hired out to tour companies for tourist travel to the Polar regions.  Consequently, there are three types of ships that go down to Antarctica:

· Expedition Ships -- These are the converted Russian research vessels.  They’re the smallest of Antarctic tourist ships, and normally carry around 50-150 passengers.

· Cruise Liners -- Full-size cruise liners, with all the amenities, also go down there.  These behemoths have the usual things: pool, jacuzzi, casino, fancy restaurant(s), etc.  Some cruise liners don't even land; they sail offshore so people can see the beautiful scenery without leaving the comfort of the ship.  When they do make landings, those become huge mass-production affairs to get everyone ashore and back.  This was not the sort of cruise we had in mind.
· Icebreakers -- These go the furthest south.  The other ships are ice-strengthened, but aren't specialized for forcing their way through miles of pack ice.  Icebreakers go deep into the Ross and Weddell Seas, and do circumnavigations of the Continent.  Obviously these are the longest and costliest of Antarctic cruises, which we couldn't afford either in terms of cash or vacation time.

The Passengers

The passengers consisted largely of Australians (maybe half to a third?).  There were also several New Zealanders.  There were under ten Americans, several Britons, a couple Canadians, and a very few Dutch and Germans.

We had a really good group of passengers on this voyage.  I was relieved we didn’t have any Ugly Americans on board, complaining about the food, or that this that or the other thing wasn’t good enough for them.  Many of the passengers were older people, in their 50s and 60s.  Our oldest, I think, were Hazel and her older brother Harold.  The older folks on this tour were amazing—they didn’t just stay on the ship.  Most of them went on all or most of the landings, and most of them took advantage of the camping option.  Hazel was our most remarkable passenger—at 74, she went on every landing (or damn near), and even joined us for the night on the ice. 

The Expedition Staff

Michael Travers was the Expedition Leader.  He tended to be quiet and serious, but was friendly and had a good sense of humor.  He was also accessible, conscientious, and we got the impression that he worked very hard to make the trip enjoyable.  In particular, he listened to people’s requests about places they’d like to go, and tried to take us there if it was feasible.  Ramming the pack ice, for instance, happened after some of the passengers asked him if we could do it, and he spoke to the captain about it.  He always shied away from guaranteeing anything, which we thought was entirely ok, since his usual approach was to be to underpromise and overdeliver.

Greg Mortimer was the Assistant Expedition Leader.  We heard a rumor that he might be an owner of the company, but never heard that substantiated.  This is a man who’s climbed Everest.  Sarah and I learned to be glad when we got onto a zodiac driven by Greg, as he tended to be a very adventurous sort.  He liked to push the envelope a little, which always made us happy (and we trusted his judgement not to push it too far), and whenever things got a little dangerous he would smile.

Tina Troup was our naturalist.  She was handy and informative, and like all the other staff was very approachable.

Clive Strauss was the Ship’s Doctor.  Quiet, very friendly.  On our trip through the Drake, he stopped at every cabin to see how people were handling the ship’s motion.  He also explained a lot about what causes motion sickness, which I found very interesting.

Peter Charles was our Hotel Manager/Barman.  Of course “Pirate Pete” was fairly fun-loving, though he also had a bit of a serious demeanor.

Bob Powell was the Sea Kayaking Guide.  He seemed least accessible of all the crew, but we think that was mostly because he was very focused; once the kayaking was over, he seemed more approachable.  He was also the only American among the Aurora crew.

Equipment

This was my standard gear for landings:
· Silk underwear, top and bottom

· Turtleneck

· Heavy fleece jacket

· Waterproof shell with hood

· 100-weight Polartec pants

· Waterproof pants

· Ultra-clava (balaclava)

· Sock hat

· Sunglasses with UV protection

· Silk socks, 1 pr

· Wool socks, 1 pr

· Waterproof socks, 1 pr

· Wellies (gumboots)

· Thin inner gloves

· Heavy waterproof outer gloves

Types of Sea Ice we encountered

Brash Ice – Bits of ice floating loosely in the water.  Brash ice consists of remnants of other forms of ice, in our area largely chunks calved off of glaciers.

Fast Ice – Flat stretches of sea ice (frozen salt water) attached to the land.

Pack Ice – Stretches of sea ice (frozen salt water) not attached to land.

Landing Briefings

During our southbound crossing of the Drake Passage, we had been given a general preparatory briefing about what to expect on our landings, and what our restrictions were when we went ashore.  Largely the restrictions concerned the wildlife.  We weren’t supposed to approach the penguins and other birds any closer than 5 meters.  They recommended we crouch or sit down, which would make us look less intimidating and should encourage them to be more comfortable around us.  They said that if the penguins approached us closer than 5 meters we did not have to move away, but we couldn’t approach them.  That was fair, and I was very glad to hear it.  The restriction on marine mammals (basically seals) was stricter: don’t approach closer than 20 meters.  They also said a few cautionary words about historic sites: watch for certain potential hazards, and don’t remove anything from the sites.

When we made a landing, after getting out of the zodiacs, we would take off our life vests in a designated spot.  This not only let us remove a bulky item, but also served the Aurora crew in making sure everyone made it back to the ship safely.  We would then congregate around the Aurora personnel, who would give us the restrictions for that landing: “the penguin colony is too tightly packed so we can’t walk that way”, “over past those boulders is a heavily-crevassed glacier so don’t go beyond the boulders”, “past the hut is off-limits because it’s a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)”, etc.  They would also point out anything we might want to see, like a very active glacier nearby for instance, and would tell us when the last zodiac was leaving for the ship.  Our shortest landing was about 1½ hours and our longest around 3½; most lasted 2½-3 hours.

The Weather

We had absolutely fantastic weather on this voyage—for Antarctica.  We thought the trip south through the Drake Passage was pretty rough, until they told us we were having only one-meter swells and ten-meter swells aren’t uncommon.  The only precipitation we had was some very light snowfall on the voyage down and back up the Drake—we had none while we were actually in Antarctica.  We also usually enjoyed calm seas wherever we went.  As a result, we were able to jump around more, and could make more landings than usual.  Apparently, 8-10 landings on this tour is considered a success; we managed to have a dozen landings.  The weather started to worsen only on our final day before heading home, causing us to cancel what would have been our 13th landing (or more likely, a zodiac cruise, I later heard).

The Food

The food onboard ship was, to sum it up, unremarkable.  We had a few very good dishes, and several that were pretty bad, but mostly the meals were mediocre.

Breakfast included a half dozen bins and boxes of cold cereal: corn flakes, granola, etc., with 2%(?) milk.  There were always tubs of porridge served: it looked a bit like oatmeal, had a consistency like cream of wheat, but tasted like neither; I didn’t have it twice.  There was also wheat bread to toast.  To spread on the toast, we had sweet butter (never salted butter), honey, marmalade, a couple flavors of jam, and something that looked like Nutella but turned out to be vegemite (which the Aussies pronounced “veggie-mite”).  One morning Michael convinced me to try a couple bites of toast with butter and a thin application of vegemite.  I thought it tasted a lot like Velveeta, which I don’t mind.  He seemed a little impressed that I finished all three bites of the toast, and dubbed me an honorary Australian.  (I was also told that much of the secret to making vegemite palatable lies in taking it in small doses.)  Sarah refused to try it.

In addition to the perennial breakfast items, they rotated other foods: poached eggs, scrambled eggs, pancakes, French toast, bacon (thicker than American bacon, and not crispy—I liked it a lot better than American bacon, but Sarah didn’t), and “sausages” (for which they substituted overcooked frankfurters with an oily fluorescent sauce).  When they served pancakes or French toast, the Americans looked around for syrup, but they never served that.  The closest thing we had was the honey, which the Americans did use.  I think the other passengers used butter and preserves.

Lunches and dinners often included a soup, which was usually very good, and refreshing after cold landings.  They often served a green salad, with two vinegar-and-oil-type dressings on the side.  Their entrees and side dishes were usually good when they were something Thai or New Zealander (our cooks were from New Zealand), but tended to fall flat when they tried to do something from any other cuisine.  Their idea of taco filling, for instance, was a kind of meatless chili, which the Aussies and Kiwis seemed to consider normal.  Another night they served Yorkshire pudding without gravy (apparently you’re supposed to put gravy on Yorkshire pudding).  Even the fish and chips, which you’d think they would do well, were overly greasy.  Except for the couple of Thai dishes they served (which were very spicy), most of the food was greasy and/or very bland.

Dinner differed from lunch in that it usually ended with a dessert, which was usually something of an adventure.  A good example was the evening the menu showed dessert as “ICE CREAM SUNDAY” [sic].  They passed out bowls with a couple scoops of what might have been mocha ice cream, with a few chocolate sprinkles on top, and containers of something resembling Hershey’s syrup but not as good.  On the other hand, their cakes and tortes tended to be very yummy.

All told, while the food on this voyage wasn’t spectacular, it was at least adequate and filling, there was plenty of it, and it didn’t make us sick (although it did turn my stomach to look at the vegemite while warding off seasickness).  I really don’t need any more than that, so I can’t fairly say that I was dissatisfied with it.  It also had the advantage that we didn’t gain any weight on this trip.

It was also interesting to see what people from other English-speaking countries did with some familiar foods.  Watching the Australians put yogurt rather than milk on their cereal was certainly an eye-opener.  Also, Sarah commented on the different ways people ate spare ribs: the Americans and Dutch used their fingers, the New Zealanders used knife and fork exclusively, while the British and Australians went back and forth: carefully cutting off all the meat, then picking up and gnawing at the bones.  It was also interesting to watch how people toasted the bread: while the Americans dropped the bread into the toaster with the top crust facing up, the other passengers consistently dropped it in sideways.

